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1 The last major revision of the Conduct
Regulation was done in 1966 to implement
Executive Order 11222, May 8, 1965, and part
735 of the Civil Service Commission regula-
tions (5 CFR part 735) adopted pursuant
thereto. It also contains references to the
several applicable statutes governing em-
ployee conduct, particularly Pub. L. 87–849
(76 Stat. 1119, 18 U.S.C. 201 et seq.), and the
‘‘Code of Ethics for Government Service,’’
House Concurrent Resolution 175, 85th Con-
gress, 2d session (72 Stat. B 12).

complaints must be filed within 180
days of the alleged act of discrimina-
tion. The agency may extend this time
period for good cause.

(e) If the agency receives a complaint
over which it does not have jurisdic-
tion, it shall promptly notify the com-
plainant and shall make reasonable ef-
forts to refer the complaint to the ap-
propriate Government entity.

(f) The agency shall notify the Archi-
tectural and Transportation Barriers
Compliance Board upon receipt of any
complaint alleging that a building or
facility that is subject to the Architec-
tural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended
(42 U.S.C. 4151–4157), is not readily ac-
cessible to and usable by individuals
with handicaps.

(g) Within 180 days of the receipt of a
complete complaint for which it has ju-
risdiction, the agency shall notify the
complainant of the results of the inves-
tigation in a letter containing—

(1) Findings of fact and conclusions
of law;

(2) A description of a remedy for each
violation found; and

(3) A notice of the right to appeal.
(h) Appeals of the findings of fact and

conclusions of law or remedies must be
filed by the complainant within 90 days
of receipt from the agency of the letter
required by § 200.670(g). The agency
may extend this time for good cause.

(i) Timely appeals shall be accepted
and processed by the head of the agen-
cy.

(j) The head of the agency shall no-
tify the complainant of the results of
the appeal within 60 days of the receipt
of the request. If the head of the agen-
cy determines that additional informa-
tion is needed from the complainant,
he or she shall have 60 days from the
date of receipt of the additional infor-
mation to make his or her determina-
tion on the appeal.

(k) The time limits cited in para-
graphs (g) and (j) of this section may be
extended with the permission of the
Assistant Attorney General.

(l) The agency may delegate its au-
thority for conducting complaint in-
vestigations to other Federal agencies,
except that the authority for making

the final determination may not be
delegated to another agency.

[53 FR 25882 and 25885, July 8, 1988, as amend-
ed at 53 FR 25882, July 8, 1988]

§§ 200.671—200.699 [Reserved]

Subpart M—Regulation Concern-
ing Conduct of Members and
Employees and Former Mem-
bers and Employees of the
Commission

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 77s, 78w, 79t, 77sss,
80a–37, 80b–11; E.O. 11222, 3 CFR, 1964–1965
Comp.; 5 CFR 735.104 unless otherwise noted.

SOURCE: 45 FR 36064, May 29, 1980, unless
otherwise noted.

§ 200.735–1 Purpose.
This subpart sets forth the standards

of ethical conduct required of mem-
bers, employees and special Govern-
ment employees, and former members
and employees of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. It is a further
revision of a comprehensive conduct
regulation first adopted by the Com-
mission in 1953 ‘‘to restate the ethical
principles which it believes should gov-
ern and have governed the conduct of
members and employees and former
members and employees of the Com-
mission.’’ 1 This revision is necessary
to provide members, employees, special
Government employees and former
Commission members and employees
with a comprehensive statement of
standards of conduct which are dic-
tated by applicable Federal law, Execu-
tive orders, and the Commission’s own
requirements.

§ 200.735–2 Policy.
(a) The Securities and Exchange

Commission has been entrusted by
Congress with the protection of the
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2 Detailed provisions regarding outside or
private employment and transactions in se-
curities and commodities are set forth in
§§ 200.735–4 and 200.735–5, respectively. Fur-
ther provisions regarding use and disclosure
of confidential information are set forth in
paragraph (b) of this section and in the note
appended thereto.

Members of the Commission are subject
also to the following prohibition in section
4(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(15 U.S.C. 78d(a)): ‘‘* * * No Commissioner
shall engage in any other business, vocation,
or employment than that of serving as Com-
missioner, nor shall any Commissioner par-
ticipate, directly or indirectly, in any stock
market operations or transactions of a char-
acter subject to regulation by the Commis-
sion pursuant to this title * * *.’’ This does
not preclude Commissioners from engaging
in securities transactions. See Opinion letter
dated February 11, 1975, sent by the Office of
the General Counsel to David Reich, Ethics
Counselor at the Civil Service Commission.
In addition, members of the Commission are
subject to the requirements of Executive
Order 11222 of May 8, 1965.

public interest in a highly significant
area of our national economy. In view
of the effect which Commission action
frequently has on the general public, it
is important that members, employees
and special Government employees
maintain unusually high standards of
honesty, integrity, impartiality and
conduct. They must be constantly
aware of the need to avoid situations
which might result either in actual or
apparent misconduct or conflicts of in-
terest and to conduct themselves in
their official relationships in a manner
which commands the respect and con-
fidence of their fellow citizens.

(b) For these reasons, members, em-
ployees and special Government em-
ployees should at all times abide by the
standards of conduct set forth in this
subpart, the canons of ethics for mem-
bers of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (subpart C of this part 200)
and, in the case of a professional per-
son, the ethical standards applicable to
the profession of such person.

§ 200.735–3 General provisions.

(a)(1) In considering the prohibitions
of this section, members and employ-
ees must constantly be aware that the
provisions here enumerated set forth
standards of conduct which are broader
than the specific applications stated in
the rules which follow. Therefore,
members and employees should look to
these general prohibitions when assess-
ing the advisability of a particular
course of conduct. The broadly stated
provisions of this rule are aimed at
eliminating the appearance of impro-
priety as well as any actual wrong-
doing.

(2) Accordingly, a member or em-
ployee should avoid any action, wheth-
er or not specifically prohibited by law
or regulation (including the provisions
of this subpart), which would result in
or might create appearance of, among
other things:

(i) Using public office for private
gain;

(ii) Giving preferential treatment to
any organization or person;

(iii) Losing complete independence or
impartiality;

(iv) Making a Government decision
outside official channels; or

(v) Affecting adversely the con-
fidence of the public in the integrity of
the Government.

(3) While provisions applicable to all
employees of the Commission are out-
lined in this regulation, certain Offices
or Divisions for management reasons
may require more stringent regula-
tions in certain areas. These may be
imposed by Division Directors, Office
Heads or Regional Administrators with
the consent of the Chairman and the
approval of the Office of Government
Ethics. Should such additional regula-
tions be imposed, all employees af-
fected must be notified ten days before
the effective date of the restriction or
at the time of their employment.

(b) A member or employee of the
Commission shall not:

(1) Engage, directly or indirectly, in
any personal business transaction or
private arrangement for personal profit
the opportunity for which arises be-
cause of his or her official position or
authority, or that is based upon con-
fidential or nonpublic information
which he or she gains by reason of such
position or authority.2

(2) Solicit or accept, directly or indi-
rectly, any gift, gratuity, favor, enter-
tainment, loan, service, or any other
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3 Members and employees of the Commis-
sion are subject also to provisions of the
Federal criminal code which prohibit, (1) any
officer or employee of the United States
from asking, accepting or receiving any
money or other thing of value in connection
with any matter before him or her in his or
her official capacity, (18 U.S.C. 203); and (2)
the compensation of government employees
for services to the government by entities
other than the United States (18 U.S.C. 209).
In addition, members are prohibited by 5
CFR 735.203(c) from receiving compensation
or anything of monetary value for any con-
sultation, lecture, discussion, writing, or ap-
pearance, the subject matter of which is de-
voted substantially to the responsibilities,
programs, or operations of the Commission
or which draws substantially on official data
or ideas which have not become part of the
body of public information. See also 17 CFR
200.735–4.

thing of monetary value from any per-
son with whom he or she transacts
business on behalf of the United States:

(i) Who has, or is seeking to obtain,
contractual or other business or finan-
cial relations with the Commission;

(ii) Who conducts operations or ac-
tivities regulated by the Commission;
or

(iii) Who has interests that may be
substantially affected by the perform-
ance or non-performance of his or her
official duty.

(3) The restrictions of paragraph
(b)(2) of this section do not prohibit
members and employees from the fol-
lowing:

(i) The acceptance of food and re-
freshments, not lavish in kind, offered
free in the course of a meeting or other
group function, not connected with an
inspection or investigation, at which
attendance is desirable because it will
assist the member or employee in per-
forming his or her official duties. Mem-
bers shall determine for themselves
and their staffs the propriety of accept-
ing such invitations. Division Direc-
tors, Office Heads, and Regional Ad-
ministrators are authorized to make
such determinations for themselves
and their subordinates. Staff members
are required to advise their Division
Director, Office Head, or Regional Ad-
ministrator of invitations received
from entities described in paragraph
(b)(2) of this section.

(ii) The acceptance of items of value
when the circumstances make it clear
that it is family or personal relation-
ships rather than the business of the
persons concerned which govern and
are the motivating factors.

(iii) The acceptance of unsolicited ad-
vertising or promotional material,
such as pens, pencils, notepads, cal-
endars and other items of modest
value.

(iv) The acceptance of meals and re-
freshments as provided to all panelists,
when participating as a panelist in an
educational program.

(v) The acceptance of gifts given for
participation in an educational pro-
gram when they are (A) of modest
value; or (B) provided to all partici-
pants in the program; or (C) in the na-
ture of a remembrance traditional to
the particular sponsor institution.

(vi) For purposes of this subpart, per-
son means an individual, a corporation,
a company, an association, a firm, a
partnership, a society, a joint stock
company; or any other organization or
institution or anyone who acts for such
a person in a representative capacity.3

(4) Solicit contributions from an-
other employee for a gift to an em-
ployee in a superior official position.
An employee in a superior official posi-
tion shall not accept a gift presented as
a contribution from employees receiv-
ing less salary than himself or herself.
An employee shall not make a dona-
tion as a gift to an employee in a supe-
rior official position (5 U.S.C. 7351).
However, this paragraph does not pro-
hibit the occasional giving of gifts of
modest value to an employee in a supe-
rior position or the receipt of such gifts
by a superior or the use of completely
voluntary contributions of nominal
amounts by employees within the Com-
mission to establish funds for the lim-
ited purpose of providing token remem-
brances or gifts of modest value to an
employee in a superior position on spe-
cial occasions.

(5) Accept from a foreign government
a gift, decoration or other thing of
more than minimal value except in ac-
cordance with the provisions of 5
U.S.C. 7342.

(6) Discuss or entertain a proposal for
future employment by any person out-
side the Government with whom he or
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4 Detailed provisions regarding negotia-
tions for future employment are set forth in
§ 200.735–7.

5 In Section 171 of the Commission’s Man-
ual of Administrative Regulations the Com-
mission’s policy on making available non-
public information to Federal, State and for-
eign government authorities, national secu-
rities exchanges and national securities asso-
ciations is outlined.

6 Detailed prohibitions regarding disclosure
or use of confidential or nonpublic informa-
tion are set forth in Rule 122 (17 CFR 230.122)
under the Securities Act of 1933; section 24(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15
U.S.C. 78x) and Rule 0–4 (17 CFR 240.0–4); and
Rule 24(b)(2) (17 CFR 240.24b–2), thereunder;
section 22(c) of the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935 (15 U.S.C. 79y) and Rule
104 thereunder (17 CFR 250.104); section
45(a)(1) of the Investment Company Act, and
section 210(b) of the Investment Advisers Act
of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80b–10). But see, section 171
of the Administrative Manual which author-
izes the staff to divulge certain nonpublic in-
formation without Commission approval (n.
5, supra).

7 Section 200.735–6 of this subpart provides
a procedure for relieving employees from as-
signments in certain cases, including those
covered by paragraph (b)(5) of this section.

she is personally and substantially in-
volved in transacting business on be-
half of the United States.4

(i) If an employee wishes to discuss
future employment with another Gov-
ernment agency, this fact should be
disclosed to the employee’s Division
Director, Office Head or Regional Ad-
ministrator prior to any discussion re-
garding employment, if at that time
the employee is representing the Com-
mission in a particular matter in which
the other agency is taking a position
adverse to the Commission.

(7)(i) Divulge to any unauthorized
person or release in advance of author-
ization for its release 5 any nonpublic
Commission document, or any informa-
tion contained in any such document
or any confidential information: (A) In
contravention of the rules and regula-
tions of the Commission promulgated
under 5 U.S.C. 552, 552a and 552b; or (B)
in circumstances where the Commis-
sion has determined to accord such in-
formation confidential treatment.

(ii) Except where the Commission or
the General Counsel, pursuant to dele-
gated authority, has previously grant-
ed approval or in relation to a Commis-
sion administrative proceeding or a ju-
dicial proceeding in which the Commis-
sion, or a present or former Commis-
sioner, or present or former member of
the staff, represented by Commission
counsel, is a party, any officer, em-
ployee or former officer or employee
who is served with a subpoena requir-
ing the disclosure of confidential or
non-public information or documents
shall, unless the Commission or the
General Counsel, pursuant to delegated
authority, authorizes the disclosure of
such information or documents, re-
spectfully decline to disclose the infor-
mation or produce the documents
called for, basing his or her refusal on
this paragraph.

(iii) Any member, employee or
former member or employee who is
served with such a subpoena not cov-
ered by the exceptions in paragraph
(b)(7)(ii) of this section shall promptly
advise the General Counsel of the serv-
ice of such subpoena, the nature of the
information or documents sought, and
any circumstances which may bear
upon the desirability in the public in-
terest of making available such infor-
mation or documents.6 The Commis-
sion or the General Counsel, pursuant
to delegated authority, shall authorize
the disclosure of non-expert, non-privi-
leged, factual staff testimony and the
production of non-privileged docu-
ments when validly subpoenaed.

(8) Act in any official matter with re-
spect to which there exists a personal
interest incompatible with an unbiased
exercise of official judgment.7

(9) Have direct or indirect personal,
business or financial affairs which con-
flict or appear to conflict with his or
her official duties and responsibilities.

(10)(i) Use, or allow the use of, di-
rectly or indirectly, Government prop-
erty of any kind, including property
leased to the Government, for other
than officially approved activities. Of-
ficially approved activities for the pur-
pose of this section are those activities
which are part of an employee’s official
duties or are approved by the employ-
ee’s Division Director, Office Head or
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8 With respect to members, this paragraph
supplements the statutory prohibition
against outside employment contained in
section 4(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, quoted in footnote 2. Except as other-
wise indicated, the remaining provisions of
this section are not made applicable to mem-
bers in view of the provisions of section 4(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Regional Administrator as being suffi-
ciently related to the employee’s offi-
cial duties, or important to the inter-
ests of the Commission to warrant the
use of Commission facilities for their
accomplishment. Division Directors,
Office Heads and Regional Administra-
tors may, for their own activities
meeting the same criteria, obtain the
concurrence of the Executive Director.

(ii) An employee has a positive duty
to protect and conserve Government
property, including equipment, sup-
plies, and other property entrusted or
issued to him or her.

(11) Participate, while on Govern-
ment-owned or leased property or while
on duty for the Government, in any
gambling activity, including the oper-
ation of a gambling device, in conduct-
ing a lottery or pool, in a game for
money or property, or in selling or pur-
chasing a numbers slip or ticket.

(12) Engage in unlawful or unethical
conduct, or other conduct prejudicial
to the Government.

[45 FR 36064, May 29, 1980; 45 FR 40975, June
17, 1980, as amended at 50 FR 23287, June 3,
1985; 53 FR 17458, May 17, 1988; 54 FR 33500,
Aug. 15, 1989]

§ 200.735–4 Outside employment and
activities.

(a) No member or employee shall per-
mit his or her name to be associated in
any way with any legal, accounting or
other professional firm or office. 8

(b)(1) No employee shall have any
outside or private employment, activ-
ity, or affiliation incompatible with
concurrent employment by the Com-
mission. Incompatible activities in-
clude but are not limited to

(i) Employment or association with
any securities exchange, association of
securities dealers, or other self-regu-
latory organization either registered
under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 or otherwise involved with the se-
curities industry, any registered

broker, dealer, registered municipal se-
curities dealer, public utility holding
company, investment company, invest-
ment adviser, securities information
processor, transfer agent, clearing
agency or other persons who are sub-
ject to regulation by the Commission,
or where the facts relating to a par-
ticular employment would create an
appearance of impropriety, because the
employment is directly or indirectly
related to the issuance, sale, purchase
or investment of securities;

(ii) Legal, accounting, or engineering
work for compensation involving mat-
ters in which the Federal government
may be significantly interested;

(iii) Acceptance of a fee, compensa-
tion, gift, payment of expense, or any
other thing of monetary value in cir-
cumstances in which acceptance may
result in or create the appearance of
conflicts of interest;

(iv) Outside employment or activity
which impairs the employee’s mental
or physical capacity to perform his or
her Commission duties and responsibil-
ities in an acceptable manner;

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph
(b), the private employment of an em-
ployee’s spouse, or other member of his
or her immediate household with any
securities exchange, association of se-
curities dealers, or other self-regu-
latory organization either registered
under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 or otherwise involved in the secu-
rities industry, any registered broker,
dealer, registered municipal securities
dealer, public utility holding company,
investment company, investment ad-
viser, securities information processor,
transfer agent, clearing agency or
other persons who are subject to regu-
lation by the Commission, or where the
particular employment is directly re-
lated to the issuance, sale, purchase or
investment of securities is deemed to
be incompatible with the employee’s
concurrent employment by the Com-
mission if the duties and activities in-
cident to such employment relate di-
rectly to the official activities of the
Commission employee, except as deter-
mined otherwise by the Commission in
a specific case.

(i) Member of his or her immediate
household is defined for the purposes of
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9 As to employees, while the receipt of
honoraria is discouraged (See 17 CFR 200.735–
4(b)(7)), that rule is not applicable to the re-
ceipt of compensation for teaching.

10 Since members of the Commission are
covered by section 401(a) of Executive Order
11222, they are prohibited by Civil Service
Regulations (5 CFR 735.203(c)) from receiving
compensation or anything of monetary value
for any consultation, lecture, discussion,
writing, or appearance the subject matter of
which is devoted substantially to the respon-
sibilities, programs, or operations of their
agencies, or which draws substantially on of-
ficial data or ideas which have not become
part of the body of public information.

11 [Reserved]

this paragraph as a resident of the em-
ployee’s household who is related to
the employee by blood or marriage.

(3) No employee shall accept or per-
form outside employment prohibited
by law, regulations of the Office of Per-
sonnel Management or the rules in this
subpart.

(4) No employee shall receive any
salary or anything of monetary value
from a private source as compensation
for his or her services to the Govern-
ment (18 U.S.C. 209), except as other-
wise provided by law.

(5) The Commission encourages em-
ployees to engage in teaching, lectur-
ing, and writing activities with or
without compensation. 9 In participat-
ing in such activities, employees
should be guided by the following:

(i) No teaching, lecturing, or writing
should be engaged in if prohibited by
law, Executive order, Office of Person-
nel Management regulations, or the
rules in this subpart.

(ii) No teaching, lecturing, or writing
should be engaged in (including for the
purpose of the special preparation of a
person or class of persons for an exam-
ination of the Office of Personnel Man-
agement or Board of Examiners for the
Foreign Service) that depends on infor-
mation filed with the Commission, or
obtained by the Commission in an in-
vestigation or otherwise, or generated
within the Commission which is non-
public, unless the Commission gives
formal approval for the use of such
nonpublic information on the basis
that the use thereof is in the public in-
terest.10

(6)(i) Subject to the specific prohibi-
tion and requirements set forth below,

the Commission may accept payment
or reimbursement in cash or in kind,
for travel and subsistence expenses ac-
tually incurred by Commission mem-
bers and employees, while on official
duty status, in connection with the
participation of such members and em-
ployees in conferences, proceedings,
meetings, seminars, and educational
programs concerning the functions and
responsibilities of the Commission and
related topics.

(ii)(A) The Commission shall accept
no payment or reimbursement for ex-
penses described in paragraph (b)(6)(i)
of this section from or in connection
with a conference sponsored by:

(1) A person directly required to file
reports or registration statements with
the Commission, or

(2) A person directly or indirectly
regulated by the Commission, or

(3) Any association or other group
composed predominantly of persons
regulated by the Commission, Provided,
however, That the Chairman may au-
thorize the Commission to accept pay-
ment or reimbursement from such a
group. In determining whether to au-
thorize such payment or reimburse-
ment, the Chairman shall consider the
benefits to the Commission and the
public of participation in the particu-
lar program and the possibility of any
appearance of impropriety.

(B) For purposes of this section, the
phrase person regulated by the Commis-
sion means all persons whose activities
are directly regulated by, or who are
required to register with, the Commis-
sion, including but not limited to, such
persons as brokers or dealers in securi-
ties, national securities exchanges, na-
tional securities associations, invest-
ment companies, investment advisers,
public utility holding companies, and
any self-regulatory organization, as
that term is defined in section 3 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15
U.S.C. 78(c).

(iii)(A) Subordinate members of the
staff who are invited to participate in
programs which offer payment or reim-
bursement meeting the criteria of
paragraph (b)(6)(i) of this section must,
prior to participation, obtain the writ-
ten approval of their Division Director,
Office Head, or Regional Administrator
to participate in the program and the
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written approval of the Chairman, if
paragraph (b)(6)(ii)(A)(3) of this section
applies. If paragraph (b)(6)(ii)(A)(3) of
this section does not apply, the Execu-
tive Director shall determine in writ-
ing whether the Commission will ac-
cept the payment or reimbursement.

(1) In acting on requests to partici-
pate, Division Directors, Office Heads,
and Regional Administrators shall con-
sider: (i) The benefit to the Commis-
sion and the public of participation; (ii)
the expertise of the proposed partici-
pant; and (iii) the appropriate alloca-
tion of resources.

(2) In determining whether the Com-
mission shall accept payment or reim-
bursement, the Executive Director
shall consider the possibility of any ap-
pearance of impropriety.

(B) Division Directors, Office Heads,
and Regional Administrators must,
prior to participation, obtain the writ-
ten approval of the Chairman, if para-
graph (b)(6)(ii)(A)(3) of this section ap-
plies. If paragraph (b)(6)(ii)(A)(3) of this
section does not apply, the Executive
Director shall determine, in writing,
considering the possibility of any ap-
pearance of impropriety, whether the
Commission will accept the payment
or reimbursement. Division Directors,
Office Heads, and Regional Administra-
tors shall make the determinations
specified in paragraph (b)(6)(iii)(A)(1) of
this section as to their own participa-
tion.

(C) Except if paragraph (b)(6)(ii)(A)(3)
of this section applies, each Commis-
sioner shall determine for himself or
herself whether payment or reimburse-
ment for his or her expenses incident
to participation in programs meeting
the criteria of paragraph (b)(6)(i) of
this section should be accepted by the
Commission. Notice of each decision
shall be sent to the Executive Director.

(D) Whenever it is determined, pursu-
ant to paragraphs (b)(6)(iii) (A), (B), or
(C) of this section that the Commission
will accept a particular payment or re-
imbursement, the Executive Director
shall forward notice of that decision to
the Public Reference Room, Washing-
ton, DC, for insertion in a public file.

(iv) Payment or reimbursement shall
not be accepted for expenses which are
unreasonable or lavish.

(v) On a quarterly basis, the Commis-
sion shall publish in the SEC Docket a
compilation of payments and reim-
bursements accepted.

(vi) The Commission’s acceptance
from any person of payment or reim-
bursement for the expenses of a spouse
or traveling companion accompanying
a member or employee is prohibited. If
a staff member wishes to participate in
a program which offers payment or re-
imbursement meeting the criteria of
paragraph (b)(6)(i) of this section and
acceptance would not be prohibited by
paragraph (b)(6)(ii) of this section, but
is denied approval in accordance with
paragraphs (b)(6)(iii)(A) or (B) of this
section, or wishes to accept reimburse-
ment for the travel expenses of his or
her spouse or traveling companion, the
staff member may participate in the
program and accept such reimburse-
ment personally, Provided, That:

(A) No reimbursement for travel ex-
penses may be accepted from a person
who does, or is seeking to do, business
with the Commission, is regulated di-
rectly or indirectly by the Commission,
is registered with the Commission, or
has interests which may be substan-
tially affected by the official’s per-
formance or non-performance of his or
her official duties.

(B) No reimbursement may be ac-
cepted for the travel expenses of an em-
ployee’s spouse or traveling companion
unless the prior written approval of the
General Counsel is obtained. Under ap-
propriate circumstances, such as pro-
grams where participants are expected
to engage in social activities, the Gen-
eral Counsel may approve acceptance
upon written application.

(C) A copy of the General Counsel’s
approval and notice of the amount of
payment or reimbursement accepted
from the sponsor must be sent to the
Executive Director for inclusion in the
public file in accordance with para-
graph (b)(6)(iii)(D) of this section.

(D) Such staff member’s participa-
tion and travel occur only while on an-
nual leave, approved in accord with
regular leave procedures. Note 7 CFR
200.735–4(e)(2)(ii).

(vii) Members or employees who are
participating in a program meeting the
criteria of paragraph (b)(6)(i) of this
section, which is sponsored by a person
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12 As a matter of policy, the Commission
encourages members of its staff to partici-
pate in matters involving improvement to
their communities and service to indigent
persons, provided that the necessary ap-
proval is obtained in advance. However, in no
case will approval be given to participate in
matters involving securities.

13 Attention is called to Title 18, United
States Code, sections 201 through 209 which
provide, among other things, that Federal
employees are prohibited from acting as
agent or attorney in prosecuting any claim
against the United States or from aiding and
assisting in any way, except as otherwise
permitted in the discharge of official duties,
in the prosecution or support of any such
claim, or from receiving any gratuity, or any
share of an interest in any claim from any
claimant against the United States; and
from directly or indirectly receiving or
agreeing to receive any compensation what-
ever for services rendered or to be rendered
to any persons in relation to any matter in
which the United States is a party or di-
rectly or indirectly interested. 18 U.S.C. 205
contains an exception from the foregoing re-
strictions for acting as agent or attorney,
without compensation, for government em-
ployees who are the subject of disciplinary,
loyalty or other personnel-type proceedings,
in connection with these proceedings.

determined by the Secretary of the
Treasury to be a tax-exempt organiza-
tion pursuant to 26 U.S.C. 501(c)(3), and
for which reimbursement for the mem-
ber’s or employee’s participation will
be accepted by the Commission, may,
while on official duty, accept from the
sponsoring entity bona fide reimburse-
ment for actual expenses for travel and
necessary subsistence for a spouse or
traveling companion Provided that the
procedures detailed in paragraphs
(d)(6)(vi) (A)–(C) of this section are fol-
lowed.

(7) The provisions of this paragraph
(b) and § 200.735–3(b)(2) do not preclude
a member or employee from:

(i) Participation in the activities of
national or State political parties not
proscribed by law;

(ii) Participation in the affairs of, or
acceptance of an award for a meritori-
ous public contribution or achievement
given by, a charitable, religious, pro-
fessional, social, fraternal, nonprofit
educational, recreational, public serv-
ice, or civic organization.

(8)(i) As a matter of general policy,
the Commission discourages the ac-
ceptance of honoraria or similar fees
and payments which are given for pub-
lications, speeches or lectures based on
the official duties of the employee. In
accord with this policy, no member or
employee may accept such an hono-
rarium unless written approval is ob-
tained in advance from the Commis-
sion’s General Counsel, subject to the
general review of the Commission. Re-
quests for such approval should be sub-
mitted to the General Counsel in writ-
ing and should include a statement in
support of the request.

(ii) Honoraria which are most likely
to be deemed acceptable are those
which appear to be remuneration for
teaching. An employee may not, under
any circumstances, accept an hono-
rarium from any person from whom re-
imbursement for travel expenses is pro-
hibited by paragraph (b)(6)(ii) of this
section. In any event an employee may
not accept an excessive honorarium as
described in 2 U.S.C. 441(i). This section
does not preclude the acceptance of a
modest gift for participation as a
speaker, as provided in Rule 3.

(c) No employee shall appear in court
or on a brief in a representative capac-

ity (with or without compensation) or
otherwise accept or perform legal, ac-
counting, engineering, or similar pro-
fessional work, unless specifically au-
thorized to do so by the Commission.
Acceptance of a forwarding fee shall be
deemed to be within the foregoing pro-
hibition. As a matter of general policy,
outside or private professional work or
practice by the staff is discouraged and
only in unusual cases or circumstances
will it be authorized. However, the
Commission encourages its employees,
in off-duty hours and consistent with
official responsibilities, to participate,
without compensation, in programs to
provide legal or other appropriate as-
sistance and representation to
indigents.12 Such participation may in-
clude limited appearances in court and
on briefs when required in connection
with such programs. However, such
participation may not involve any ac-
tivities which are prohibited by law,
Executive orders, Office of Personnel
Management regulations, or this sub-
part M.13 For example, 18 U.S.C. 205
prohibits a Federal employee from ap-
pearing in court in a matter in which
the United States has an interest
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14 This is adapted from the provision in 18
U.S.C. 205 and expresses the Commission’s
general policy which favors the representa-
tion of fellow employees without compensa-
tion. However, it may be necessary to look
to other regulations for specific provisions
regarding such representation.

15 This paragraph (e), requiring review of
prepared speeches or writings relating to the
Commission, does not apply to teaching ac-
tivities.

(other than on behalf of the United
States), without regard to compensa-
tion.

(1) The provisions of this paragraph
(c) and § 200.735–3(b)(2) do not preclude
an employee from:

(i) Acting without compensation as
agent or attorney (A) for a Commission
employee who is sued or is under inves-
tigation in connection with his or her
official duties; (B) for any Commission
employee who is the subject of discipli-
nary, loyalty or other personnel ad-
ministrative proceedings in connection
with those proceedings; or (C) for any
Commission employee who raises
claims or against whom allegations of
wrongdoing are made pursuant to the
Commission’s Equal Opportunity regu-
lations, if such representation is not
inconsistent with the faithful perform-
ance of the employee’s duties.14

(2) [Reserved]
(d) No member or employee shall

hold office in or be a director of any
company which has public security
holders, except not for profit corpora-
tions, savings and loan associations,
and similar institutions, whose securi-
ties are exempted under section 3(a)(4)
or 3(a)(5) of the Securities Act of 1933
(15 U.S.C. 77c(a)(4), 77c(a)(5)).

(e)(1) As paragraph (b)(5) of this sec-
tion indicates, the Commission encour-
ages employees to engage in teaching,
lecturing and writing activities.15 It is
understood, however, that Commission
employees in their teaching, writing
and lecturing shall not

(i) Use confidential or nonpublic in-
formation;

(ii) Make comments on pending liti-
gation in which the Commission is par-
ticipating as a party or amicus curiae;
or

(iii) Make comments on rulemaking
proceedings pending before the Com-

mission which would adversely affect
the operations of the Commission.

(2) To assist employees in conforming
to these requirements the following
procedure for reviewing writings prior
to publication, or prepared speeches
prior to delivery, has been established:

(i) Employees must submit proposed
publications or prepared speeches re-
lating to the Commission, or the stat-
utes or rules it administers, to the
General Counsel for review. Employees
will be notified as promptly as pos-
sible, with due regard to publication
deadlines, but in any event within 30
days of receipt of the written docu-
ment, whether such document con-
forms to the requirements of this Rule.

(ii) A determination by the General
Counsel that a proposed publication
conforms to the requirements of the
rule will not involve adoption of, or
concurrence in, the views expressed.
Therefore, such publication or speech
shall include at an appropriate place or
by way of footnote, or otherwise, the
following disclaimer of responsibility:

The Securities and Exchange Commission,
as a matter of policy, disclaims responsibil-
ity for any private publication or statement
by any of its employees. The views expressed
herein are those of the author and do not
necessarily reflect the views of the Commis-
sion or of the author’s colleagues upon the
staff of the Commission.

In appropriate cases, the above dis-
claimer may be modified by the Gen-
eral Counsel or the Commission to re-
flect the circumstances of an individ-
ual case. In addition, any publication
or speech which reflects positions
taken by the Commission shall set
forth those positions accurately and, if
it contains differences with Commis-
sion positions, it shall clearly state
that such positions are those of the
employee.

(f) An employee who intends to ac-
cept or perform any outside or private
employment or professional work shall
obtain necessary authorization in ad-
vance of such acceptance or perform-
ance. A request for such authorization
shall be submitted to the Division Di-
rector, Office Head or Regional Admin-
istrator concerned, together with all
pertinent facts regarding the proposed
employment, such as the name of the
employer, the nature of the work to be
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16 The Commission does not favor the
granting of waivers from the provision of
this subsection.

17 For purposes of this rule a money market
fund is defined as an open end investment
company whose investment policy calls for
investment of at least 80% of its assets in
debt securities maturing in 13 months or
less.

performed, its estimated duration, and
the fee or compensation to be received.
Division Directors, Office Heads and
Regional Administrators have been del-
egated the authority to approve rou-
tine requests for outside employment.
The approving official shall forward to
the Director of Personnel a copy of
each request showing the date of ap-
proval. Requests of a non-routine na-
ture should be forwarded to the Direc-
tor of Personnel.

(g) The Director of Personnel, or his
designee, is authorized to approve or
disapprove requests for outside or pri-
vate employment under this rule, ex-
cept as to those cases which, in his
judgment, should be considered and de-
cided by the Commission. An employee
may appeal a disapproved request to
the Commission. The written appeal,
submitted through the Director of Per-
sonnel, shall give reasons why the pro-
posed outside or private employment is
consistent with this rule. The Director
of Personnel may not approve proposed
outside or private employment which
is absolutely prohibited by these rules.
The Commission may, in a particular
case, approve such employment.16

(Pub. L. 98–38)

[45 FR 36064, May 29, 1980; 45 FR 40975, June
17, 1980; 48 FR 39216, Aug. 30, 1983; 50 FR 45603,
Nov. 1, 1985]

§ 200.735–5 Securities transactions.
(a)(1) This section applies to all

transactions effected by or on behalf of
a member or employee. This includes
transactions for the accounts of other
persons effected by the member or em-
ployee, directly or indirectly, under a
power of attorney or otherwise. In ad-
dition, a member or employee is con-
sidered to have sufficient interest in
the securities transactions of his or her
spouse or unemancipated minor child
or other member of his or her imme-
diate household so that transactions
effected by or on behalf of such persons
must be reported and are subject to all
the terms of this section.

(i) Except, this section shall not
apply to securities transactions of a le-

gally separated spouse living apart
from the member or employee, includ-
ing transactions for the benefit of a
minor child, if the member or em-
ployee has no power to control and
does not, in fact, advise or control with
regard to such transactions. If the
member or employee has knowledge of
securities held by a separated spouse or
for the benefit of a minor child, the dis-
qualification provisions of Rule 6, 17
CFR 200.735–6, and 18 U.S.C. 208 are ap-
plicable.

(ii) For purposes of this section mem-
ber of his or her immediate household
means a resident of the member’s or
employee’s household who is related to
the employee by blood or marriage or
who is in the legal care and/or custody
of the employee by reason of adoption,
prospective adoption or guardianship.

(2) Members and employees are pro-
hibited from recommending or suggest-
ing the purchase or sale of securities:

(i) Based on non-public information
gained in the course of employment; or

(ii) Which a member or employee
could not purchase because of the re-
strictions of this rule, in any cir-
cumstance in which the member or em-
ployee could reasonably expect to ben-
efit from the recommendation, or to
anyone over whom the member or em-
ployee has or may have control or sub-
stantial influence.

(b)(1) No member or employee shall
effect or cause to be effected any trans-
action in a security except for bona
fide investment purposes. Therefore,
all securities purchased by a member
or employee must be held for a mini-
mum of six months. Except, this hold-
ing period is not applicable to

(i) Securities sold for less than the
purchase price pursuant to a stop-loss
order entered at the time of purchase
and submitted to the Office of Person-
nel with the report of purchase;

(ii) Money market fund shares; 17

(iii) Securities purchased by a mem-
ber or employee prior to entrance on
duty with the Commission;
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(iv) Debt securities with an initial
term of less than six months which are
held to term;

(v) Shares of a unit investment trust
having a term of less than six months;
or

(vi) The transferring of funds within
a family of registered investment com-
panies.

(2) For purposes of this provision a
family means any two or more reg-
istered investment companies which
share the same investment adviser or
principal underwriter and hold them-
selves out to investors as related com-
panies for purposes of investment and
investor services.

(c) No member or employee shall ef-
fect any purchase or sale of an option,
future contract, or option on a future
contract involving a security or group
of securities.

(d) No member or employee shall
(1) Carry securities on margin;
(2) Borrow funds or securities, with

or without collateral, for the purpose
of purchasing or carrying securities
with the proceeds, unless the prior ap-
proval of the Commission has been se-
cured; or

(3) Sell a security which he or she
does not own, or consummate a sale by
the delivery of a security borrowed by
or for such member’s or employee’s ac-
count.

(e)(1) Except as provided in this para-
graph (e) or paragraph (f) below, mem-
bers and employees are prohibited from
purchasing or selling any security
which is the subject of a registration
statement filed under the Security Ex-
change Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78a et
seq.), the Securities Act of 1933 (15
U.S.C. 77a et seq.), or a letter of notifi-
cation filed under Regulation A, or any
security of the same issuer while such
a registration statement or letter of
notification is pending or during the
first 60 days after its effective date.
This prohibition shall not apply to:

(i) A security which is the subject of
a pending registration statement filed
on Forms S–2, S–3, S–8, F–2, F–3, 8–A,
or 8–B; or

(ii) Offerings, except initial public of-
ferings, of shares by an investment
company, other than a closed-end in-
vestment company, or to offerings by a
registered separate account (as defined

in section 1(a)(37) of the Investment
Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a–
2(a)(37)) which become effective pursu-
ant to 17 CFR 230.485(b).

(2) Securities of a unit investment
trust whose registration statements
become effective pursuant to 17 CFR
230.487 may be purchased immediately
upon effectiveness of the registration
statement.

(3) Securities which are registered for
delayed distribution pursuant to 17
CFR 230.415 may be purchased 60 days
after the registration becomes effec-
tive. The subsequent filing of a pricing
amendment or sticker does not revive
the prohibition on purchase.

(f) A member or employee may sell a
security which is referred to in para-
graph (e) of this section only if:

(1) The member or employee certifies
that he or she has no information
which is not publicly available con-
cerning or relating to the issuer; and

(2) The employee’s Division Director,
Office Head or Regional Administrator
certifies that the employee has not
participated in the registration proc-
essing. Members, Division Directors,
Office Heads, and Regional Administra-
tors are required to submit such cer-
tification on their own behalf to the
Director of the Office of Personnel.

(g) No member or employee shall pur-
chase any security which to his or her
knowledge is involved in any pending
investigation by the Commission, or in
any proceeding before the Commission,
or to which the Commission is a party.

(h) No member or employee shall pur-
chase any security of any company
which is in a receivership or bank-
ruptcy proceeding in which the Com-
mission has filed a notice of appear-
ance.

(i) No member or employee shall pur-
chase securities of:

(1) Any holding company registered
under section 5 of the Public Utility
Holding Company Act of 1935 (15 U.S.C.
79e), or any subsidiary thereof, or

(2) Any company, if its status under
such Act, or the applicability of any
provision of the Act to it, is known by
the employee to be under consider-
ation.

(j) The restrictions imposed in para-
graphs (e), (g), (h), and (i) of this sec-
tion do not apply;
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(1) To the exercise of a privilege to
convert or exchange securities;

(2) To the exercise of rights accruing
unconditionally by virtue of ownership
of other securities (as distinguished
from a contingent right to acquire se-
curities not subscribed for by others);

(3) To the acquisition and exercise of
rights in order to round out fractional
shares;

(4) To the acceptance of stock divi-
dends on securities already owned; to
the reinvestment, under a reinvest-
ment program, of cash dividends on a
security already owned; or the partici-
pation in a periodic investment plan
for the purchase of a security when the
original purchase was consistent with
the provisions of this rule; or

(5) Investments in funds established
pursuant to the Federal Employees Re-
tirement System.

(k) Members and employees holding a
Senior Executive Service position in
the Division of Investment Manage-
ment or the Office of Compliance In-
spections and Examinations may make
discretionary investments in any in-
vestment company registered under
the Investment Company Act of 1940, 15
U.S.C. 80a et seq., provided that the reg-
istered investment company is diversi-
fied pursuant to section 5(b)(1) of the
Investment Company Act of 1940, 15
U.S.C. 80a–5(b)(1). The Directors of the
Division of Investment Management
and the Office of Compliance Inspec-
tions and Examinations, in consulta-
tion with the Office of the General
Counsel, shall determine in writing
whether Senior Executive Service posi-
tions in their respective Division or Of-
fice whose duties do not include fund
matters also may invest in non-
diversified registered investment com-
panies.

(l) No member or employee shall
have a beneficial interest in any
broker, dealer or investment adviser
through ownership of securities or oth-
erwise. However, if a corporation ac-
quires or establishes a subsidiary or af-
filiate subject to regulation by the
Commission (regulated entity),

(1) A member or employee may retain
his or her existing holdings in the cor-
poration, provided the security was
originally acquired in compliance with

the provisions of this rule or prior to
entry on duty with the Commission.

(2) Purchases of the corporation’s
shares will be permitted so long as the
regulated entity subsidiary or affiliate
provides less than 10% of the corpora-
tion’s gross revenue. Except for rein-
vestment of cash dividends, additional
purchases are prohibited when the reg-
ulated entity provides 10% or more of
the corporation’s gross revenues.

(3) A member or employee who owns
shares in a corporation with a regu-
lated entity subsidiary or affiliate is
disqualified from participating in any
matter including rulemaking which af-
fects the regulated entity unless the
disqualification is waived in accord-
ance with the provisions of Rule 6, of
this section, 17 CFR 200.735–6, and 18
U.S.C. 208(b).

(m)(1) Annually, in accordance with
the procedures adopted by the Director
of Personnel, every member and em-
ployee shall furnish the Director of
Personnel with a complete list of all
securities in which he or she has an in-
terest. Employees having no interests
in securities and required to so state.

(2) Except as provided in paragraphs
(m)(3) and (m)(4) of this section, mem-
bers and employees shall report every
acquisition or sale of any security
within five business days of the trans-
action date or date confirmation is re-
ceived. (Reports submitted by employ-
ees in field offices must be placed in
the mails within five business days of
the transaction date or date the con-
firmation is received for each trans-
action.)

(3) After the initial purchase of
shares in a mutual fund, employees
shall report holdings in that mutual
fund only on the annual statement.

(4) Changes in holdings, other than
by purchase, which do not affect dis-
qualification, such as those resulting
from the automatic reinvestment of
dividends, stock splits, stock dividends
or reclassifications, may be reported on
the annual statement rather than when
notification of the transaction is re-
ceived. But, the acquisition of holdings
by, for example, gifts, inheritance or
spin-offs, which may result in addi-
tional disqualifications pursuant to
Rule 6 of this section, 17 CFR 200.735–6,
and 18 U.S.C. 208 shall be reported
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within five days of the receipt of the
notice of the change in holdings.

(n) At the time of taking the oath of
office, or prior thereto if requested by
the Director of Personnel, a new mem-
ber or employee shall provide to the Of-
fice of Personnel, as requested, infor-
mation relating to—

(1) Securities owned by or held for
the benefit of him or her, or his or her
spouse or unemancipated minor child,
or a member of his or her immediate
household, or by any trust or estate of
which he or she is a trustee or other fi-
duciary or beneficiary, or by any per-
son for whom he or she effects trans-
actions under a power of attorney or
otherwise;

(2) Accounts with securities firms;
(3) Close relatives (i.e. children, par-

ents, grandparents, siblings, aunts, un-
cles, or like relations of a spouse), who
are partners or officers of securities
firms, investment advisers, or reg-
istered public utility holding compa-
nies or their affiliates;

(4) The holding of office in or being a
director of any company which has
public security holders; and

(5) Such other information as may be
required by the Director of Personnel.
Employees are required to advise the
Office of Personnel of changes in the
foregoing information within ten busi-
ness days of the time the new informa-
tion is learned.

(o) Paragraphs (b), (m), and (n) of
this section do not apply to personal
notes, individual real estate mort-
gages, securities issued by the U.S.
Government or its agencies, and securi-
ties issued by building and loan asso-
ciations or cooperatives.

(p) Any member or employee who is a
trustee or other fiduciary or a bene-
ficiary of a trust or estate holding se-
curities not exempted by paragraph (o)
of this section, shall report the exist-
ence and nature of such trust or estate
to the Director of Personnel. The
transactions of such trust or estate,
which is not a qualified blind trust,
shall be subject to all the provisions of
this section except if the member or
employee did not create the trust, is
solely a beneficiary, has no power to
control, and does not in fact control or
advise with respect to the investments
of the trust or estate, unless the Com-

mission shall otherwise direct in view
of the circumstances of the particular
case.

(q) The Director of Personnel, or his
designee, is authorized to require the
disposition of securities acquired as a
result of a violation of the provisions
of this section, whether unintentional
or not. Repeated violations shall be re-
ported to the Commission for appro-
priate action.

(r) Any member or employee who be-
lieves that the application of any of
the provisions of this rule will result in
undue hardship in a particular case
may make a written application to the
Commission (through the Director of
Personnel) setting out, in detail, the
reasons for that belief and requesting a
waiver. However, as a matter of policy
the Commission favors a strict inter-
pretation of the provisions of this rule.

[53 FR 18553, May 24, 1988, as amended at 59
FR 43464, Aug. 24, 1994; 60 FR 52626, Oct. 10,
1995]

§ 200.735–6 Action in case of personal
interest.

Any employee assigned to work on
any application, filing or matter of a
company (a) in which he or she or his
or her spouse or his or her minor
unemancipated child then owns any se-
curities or has a personal interest, in-
cluding a continuing financial interest
in a pension or retirement plan, shared
income, or other arrangement, as a re-
sult of any current or prior employ-
ment or business or professional asso-
ciation; or (b) with which he or she has
been employed or associated in the
past 5 years; or (c) which was a client
of a firm with which he or she had been
associated, shall immediately advise
his or her Division Director or other
Office Head or Regional Administrator
of the fact. Division Directors, Office
Heads and Regional Administrators are
authorized to direct the reporting em-
ployee to continue with the assignment
in question where this appears in the
interest of the Government, taking
into account (1) the prohibitions stated
in § 200.735–3(b) (7) and (8); (2) the gen-
eral desirability of avoiding situations
that require a question of conflict of
interest to be resolved; (3) the extent
to which the employee’s activities will
be supervised; and (4) the difficulty of
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18 18 U.S.C. 208, provides among other
things, that a member or employee is prohib-
ited from participating personally and sub-
stantially in any matter in which to his
knowledge, he, his spouse, minor child, part-
ner, organization in which he is serving as an
officer, director, trustee, partner or em-
ployee, or any person or organization with
whom he is negotiating or has any arrange-
ment concerning prospective employment,
has a financial interest. This section (of the
Criminal Code) does not apply if the em-
ployee has received a written determination
made by an authorized official that the in-
terest is not so substantial as to be deemed
likely to affect the integrity of the employ-
ee’s service. Note: Members of the Commis-
sion may follow the procedural provision
contained in Part V, Section 503 of the Exec-
utive Order 11222.

19 Employees should bear in mind that in
this connection the word matter is construed
very broadly. See 200.735–8 and footnote 20,
thereto, infra.

20 As used in this paragraph, a single inves-
tigation or formal proceeding, or both if they
are related, shall be presumed to constitute
a particular matter for at least 2 years irre-
spective of changes in the issues. However, in
cases of proceedings in which the issues
change from time to time, such as proceed-
ings involving compliance with section 11 of
the Public Utility Holding Company Act (15
U.S.C. 79k), this paragraph shall not be con-
strued as prohibiting appearance in such a
proceeding, more than two years after ceas-
ing to be a member or employee of the Com-
mission, unless it appears to the Commission
that there is such an identity of particular
issues or pertinent facts as to make it likely
that confidential information, derived while
a member or employee of the Commission,

assigning the matter to some other em-
ployee. Where the employee in ques-
tion is not relieved of the assignment,
his or her written report concerning
the nature of his or her interest shall
be forwarded to the Director of Person-
nel with a notation that he or she has
been directed to continue the assign-
ment, together with such explanation,
if any, as may seem appropriate. In the
event that a Division Director, Office
Head or Regional Administrator deems
that he or she has, himself or herself,
such a personal interest in an applica-
tion, filing or matter of a company as
may raise a question as to his or her
disinterestedness, he or she may dele-
gate his or her responsibility with re-
gard thereto to a subordinate, but in
that event shall submit a brief memo-
randum of the circumstances to the Di-
rector of Personnel.18

[45 FR 36064, May 29, 1980; 45 FR 40975, June
17, 1980]

§ 200.735–7 Negotiation for employ-
ment.

(a) An employee may not negotiate
employment with anyone outside the
Commission with whom he or she is
personally transacting business in any
matter on behalf of the Commission or
the United States, or while he or she is
immediately or personally engaged in
representing the Commission in any
matter in which the prospective em-
ployer is a participant or witness or
counsel for such a person, whether or
not such a person takes a substantive
position in an adversary proceeding in

opposition to the Commission’s posi-
tion.

(b) An employee who wishes to nego-
tiate employment with another Gov-
ernment agency at a time when he or
she is representing the Commission in
a particular matter in which the other
Government agency is taking a posi-
tion adverse to the Commission should
disclose this intention to his or her Di-
vision Director, Office Head or Re-
gional Administrator prior to taking
any action.

(c) No employee shall undertake to
act personally on behalf of the Com-
mission in any capacity in a matter 19

that, to his or her knowledge, affects
even indirectly any person or organiza-
tion outside the Commission with
whom he or she is discussing or enter-
taining any proposal for future employ-
ment, except pursuant to the direction
of the Commission, his or her Division
Director, Office Head, or Regional Ad-
ministrator, as provided in §200.735–6.
See footnote 18.

§ 200.735–8 Practice by former mem-
bers and employees of the Commis-
sion.

(a)(1) No person shall appear in a rep-
resentative capacity before the Com-
mission in a particular matter if such
person, or one participating with him
or her in the particular matter, partici-
pated personally and substantially in
that matter while he or she was a
member or employee of the Commis-
sion. 20 As used in this rule, a matter
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would have continuing relevance to the pro-
ceeding, so as to make participation therein
by the former member or employee of the
Commission unethical or prejudicial to the
interests of the Commission.

21 This definition is taken from Formal
Opinion 342 of the ABA Ethics Committee.
The opinion states that ‘‘work as a govern-
ment employee in drafting, enforcing or in-
terpreting government or agency procedures,
regulations or laws, or in briefing abstract
principles of law, does not disqualify the law-
yer under DR9–101B (which states ‘a lawyer
shall not accept private employment in a
matter in which he had substantial respon-
sibility while he was a public employee’)
from subsequent private employment involv-
ing the same regulation procedures, or
points of law * * *.’’

22 This prohibition appears in the Ethics in
Government Act of 1978. Pub. L. 95–521.

means a discrete and isolatable trans-
action or set of transactions between
identifiable parties. 21

(2) No person who has been a member
or employee shall, within 2 years after
his or her employment has ceased, as-
sist, by personal presence, a person ap-
pearing in a representative capacity
before the Commission in any matter
in which he or she participated person-
ally and substantially while a member
or employee of the Commission at any
time within a period of 1 year prior to
the termination of such responsibility.

(3) No person who has been a member
or an employee shall, within 2 years
after his or her employment has
ceased, appear in a representative ca-
pacity before the Commission in any
matter which was under his or her offi-
cial responsibility as a member or em-
ployee of the Commission at any time
within a period of 1 year prior to the
termination of such responsibility. The
term official responsibility as defined in
18 U.S.C. 202 means the ‘‘direct admin-
istrative or operating authority,
whether intermediate or final, and ei-
ther exercisable alone or with others,
and either personally or through subor-
dinates, to approve, disapprove, or oth-
erwise direct Government action.’’

(4) No employee in a position which
is designated by the Director of the Of-
fice of Government Ethics shall, within
one year after his or her employment
has ceased, appear in a representative
capacity before the Commission or
communicate with the Commission or
its employees with the intent to influ-

ence. 22 This restriction does not apply
to members who ceased employment
before July 1, 1979, or to employees who
ceased employment prior to February
28, 1980.

(b)(1) Any former member or em-
ployee of the Commission who, within 2
years after ceasing to be such, is em-
ployed or retained as the representa-
tive of any person outside the Govern-
ment in any matter in which it is con-
templated that he or she will appear
before the Commission, or commu-
nicate with the Commission or its em-
ployees, shall, within ten days of such
retainer or employment, or of the time
when appearance before, or commu-
nication with the Commission or its
employees is first contemplated, file
with the Secretary of the Commission
a statement which includes:

(i) A description of the contemplated
representation;

(ii) An affirmative representation
that the former employee while on the
Commission’s staff had neither per-
sonal and substantial responsibility
nor official responsibility for the mat-
ter which is the subject of the rep-
resentation; and

(iii) The name of the Commission Di-
vision or Office in which the person had
been employed.

(2) Employment of a recurrent char-
acter may be covered by a single com-
prehensive statement. Each such state-
ment should include an appropriate
caption indicating that it is filed pur-
suant to this section. The reporting re-
quirements of this paragraph do not
apply to

(i) Communications incidental to
court appearances in litigation involv-
ing the Commission; and

(ii) Oral communications concerning
ministerial or informational matters
or requests for oral advice not other-
wise prohibited by paragraph (a) of this
section.

(c) As used in this section, the term
appear before the commission means
physical presence before the Commis-
sion or its employees in either a formal
or informal setting or the conveyance
of material in connection with a for-
mal appearance or application to the
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23 For example, no waiver will be granted
if, during the course of representing a client
who has an interest with respect to a matter
before the Commission, a firm employs, or
accepts as a partner, a member of the staff
or of the Commission who at any time dur-
ing the course of that representation had di-
rect and substantial responsibility for the
same matter, and whose departure would re-
sult in a significant adverse impact upon
that matter at the Commission.

24 Attention of former members and em-
ployees is directed to Formal Opinion 342 of
the Committee on Ethics of the American
Bar Association, 62 A.B.A.J. 517 (1975) and to
18 U.S.C. 207.

Commission. As used in this section
the term communication with intent to
influence does not encompass commu-
nications which are not for the purpose
of influencing the Commission or any
of its employees or which, at the time
of the filings, are reasonably believed
not to involve any potential con-
troversy. As used in this section, the
term representative or representative ca-
pacity shall include not only the usual
type of representation by an attorney,
etc., but also representation of a cor-
poration in the capacity of an officer,
director or controlling stockholder
thereof.

(d)(1) Partners or associates of any
person disqualified from appearing or
practicing before the Commission in a
particular matter by paragraph (a)(1)
of this section are also disqualified.
Such partners or associates (the firm)
may request a waiver of this prohibi-
tion from the Commission by writing a
letter to the General Counsel of the
commission setting forth the facts of
the proposed representation and the in-
dividual’s disqualification. In appro-
priate situations, a firm may request a
generic waiver with respect to a num-
ber of different matters. Upon the ad-
vice of the Office of the General Coun-
sel, the Commission, or the General
Counsel exercising delegated author-
ity, will advise the requestor of the
Commission’s response.

(2) Waivers ordinarily will be granted
where the firm makes a satisfactory
representation that it has adopted
screening measures which will effec-
tively isolate the individual lawyer dis-
qualified under paragraph (a)(1) of this
section from participating in the par-
ticular matter or matters and from
sharing in any fees attributable to it.
It will be considered significant for
purposes of this determination that:

(i) The firm had a pre-existing securi-
ties law practice prior to the arrival of
the disqualified attorney;

(ii) The matter was previously the
subject of consideration by the firm or
the client was already advised by the
firm;

(iii) In cases where the matter or cli-
ent became the subject of consider-
ation by the firm subsequent to the
firm’s employment of the lawyer indi-
vidually disqualified, that the matter

was not brought to the firm because of
the disqualified attorney.

(3) Notwithstanding the existence or
non-existence of any of these factors,
no waiver will be issued if the proposed
representation would create a signifi-
cant appearance of impropriety or
would otherwise adversely affect the
interests of the government.23All pro-
ceedings with respect to waivers shall
be a matter of public record except to
the extent that such public disclosure
might violate attorney-client privilege
or breach the attorney’s obligation to
preserve the confidences and secrets of
this or her clients, reveal the existence
of ongoing private investigations,
interfere with law enforcement pro-
ceedings, or otherwise be inconsistent
with the public interest.

(e) Persons in doubt as to the appli-
cability of any portion of this section
may apply for an advisory ruling of the
Commission.24

[45 FR 36064, May 29, 1980, as amended at 50
FR 23669, June 5, 1985]

§ 200.735–9 Indebtedness.
(a) The Securities and Exchange

Commission considers the indebtedness
of its members and employees to be es-
sentially a matter of their own concern
and will not be placed in the position of
acting as a collection agency or of de-
termining the validity or amount of
contested debts. Nevertheless, failure
on the part of an employee without
good reason and in a proper and timely
manner to honor debts acknowledged
by him or her to be valid, or reduced to
judgment by a court, or to make or to
adhere to satisfactory arrangements
for the settlement thereof, may be a
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25 In addition to the information required
by this Rule, all employees are required by
Rule 5 to file annually with the Director of
Personnel a listing of their securities hold-
ings.

cause for disciplinary action. In this
connection each member and employee
is expected to meet his or her respon-
sibilities for payment of Federal, State
and local taxes. For purposes of this
section, in a proper and timely manner
means in a manner which the agency
determines does not, under the cir-
cumstances, reflect adversely on the
Government as his or her employer.

(b) Compensation due members and
employees is subject to garnishment
for child support and alimony obliga-
tions. (42 U.S.C. 659).

§ 200.735–10 Miscellaneous statutory
provisions.

Each member and employee is re-
sponsible for acquainting himself or
herself with each statute that relates
to his or her ethical and other conduct
as a member or employee of the Com-
mission and of the Government, includ-
ing the statutory provisions listed
below. Violations of any of these stat-
utes are deemed to be violations of the
rules in this subpart M as well.

(a) House Concurrent Resolution 175,
85th Congress, 2d Session, 72 Stat. B12,
the ‘‘Code of Ethics for Government
Service.’’

(b) Chapter 11 of title 18 U.S.C., relat-
ing to bribery, graft, and conflicts of
interest, as appropriate to the employ-
ees concerned.

(c) The prohibition against lobbying
with appropriated funds (18 U.S.C.
1913).

(d) The prohibition against disloyalty
and striking (5 U.S.C. 7311, 18 U.S.C.
1918).

(e) The prohibition against (1) the
disclosure of classified information (18
U.S.C. 798, 50 U.S.C. 783); and (2) disclo-
sure of confidential information (18
U.S.C. 1905).

(f) The provision relating to the ha-
bitual use of intoxicants to excess (5
U.S.C. 7352).

(g) The prohibition against the mis-
use of a Government vehicle (31 U.S.C.
638a(c)).

(h) The prohibition against the mis-
use of the franking privilege (18 U.S.C.
1719).

(i) The prohibition against the use of
deceit in an examination or personnel
action in connection with Government
employment (18 U.S.C. 1917).

(j) The prohibition against fraud or
false statements in a Government mat-
ter (18 U.S.C. 1001).

(k) The prohibition against mutilat-
ing or destroying a public record (18
U.S.C. 2071).

(l) The prohibition against counter-
feiting and forging transportation re-
quests (18 U.S.C. 508).

(m) The prohibition against (1) em-
bezzlement of Government money or
property (18 U.S.C. 641); (2) failing to
account for public money (18 U.S.C.
643); and (3) embezzlement of the
money or property of another person in
the possession of an employee by rea-
son of his employment (18 U.S.C. 654).

(n) The prohibition against unauthor-
ized use of documents relating to
claims from or by the Government (18
U.S.C. 285).

(o) The prohibition against political
activities in subchapter III of chapter
73 of title 5 U.S.C. and 18 U.S.C. 602, 603,
607, and 608.

(p) The prohibition against an em-
ployee acting as the agent of a foreign
principal registered under the Foreign
Agents Registration Act (18 U.S.C. 219).

§ 200.735–11 Statement of employment
and financial interests.

(a) Members and employees in the
Senior Executive Service or Grades
GS–16 through GS–18 are required to
file a financial disclosure report as pro-
vided by title II of the Ethics in Gov-
ernment Act of 1978, Pub. L. 95–521.
Members and such employees need not
also file the statement of employment
and financial interests required by the
following provisions.

(b) Prior to the time of entry on
duty, or upon designation to a position
set forth in paragraph (c) of this sec-
tion, such employee shall submit to the
Director of Personnel a statement, on
the official form made available for
this purpose through the Office of Per-
sonnel, setting forth the following in-
formation:25
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(1) A list of the names of all corpora-
tions, companies, firms, or other busi-
ness enterprises, partnerships, non-
profit organizations, and educational
or other institutions with or in which
the employee, his or her spouse,
unemancipated minor child or other
member of his or her immediate house-
hold has—

(i) Any connection as an employee,
officer, owner, director, member, trust-
ee, partner, adviser or consultant; or

(ii) Any continuing financial inter-
est, through a pension or retirement
plan, shared income, or other arrange-
ment as a result of any current or prior
employment or business or professional
association.

(iii) Any financial interest through
the ownership of stock, stock options,
bonds, securities, or other arrange-
ments including trusts.

(2) A list of the names of the employ-
ee’s creditors and the creditors of his
or her spouse, unemancipated minor
child or other member of his or her im-
mediate household, other than those
creditors to whom any such person
may be indebted by reason of a mort-
gage on property which he or she occu-
pies as a personal residence, or to
whom such person may be indebted for
current and ordinary household and
living expenses such as those incurred
for household furnishings, vacations,
an automobile, education, or the like.

(3) A list of the employee’s interests
and those of his or her spouse,
unemancipated minor child, or other
member of his or her immediate house-
hold in real property or rights in lands,
other than property which he or she oc-
cupies as a personal residence.

(4) For the purpose of this section,
member of his or her immediate household
means a resident of the employee’s
household who is related to the em-
ployee by blood or marriage.

(5) In the instance where a spouse is
not a member of the employee’s immediate
household, and the employee certifies
he or she neither derives nor expects to
derive any economic benefit from the
holdings of the spouse, the Director of
Personnel may waive the requirement
of reporting the interests of such
spouse.

(c) Except as to employees noted in
paragraph (a) of this section, state-

ments of employment and financial in-
terests are required of the following:

(1) All employees in grade GS–15.
(2) Incumbents of the following posi-

tions, regardless of grade:
(i) Executive Staff. (A) Legal Assist-

ants to the Chairman and to each Com-
missioner; (B) Special Counsels to the
Chairman.

(ii) Employees serving under SEC
Fellowship Programs.

(iii) All employees engaged in any as-
pect of Government contracting or pro-
curement activities.

(iv) Division, Office, Directorate
(A) Directors
(B) Deputies
(C) Associates
(D) Assistants
(E) Chief Counsels
(v) Regional Offices
(A) Administrators
(B) Associate Administrators
(C) Assistant Administrators
(D) Attorneys-in-Charge of Branch

Offices
(E) Chief Enforcement Attorneys
(d) Changes in, or additions to, the

information contained in an employ-
ee’s statement of employment and fi-
nancial interests shall be reported in a
supplementary statement as of May 15
of each year. If no changes or additions
occur, a negative report is required.
Notwithstanding the filing of the an-
nual report required by this paragraph,
each employee shall at all times avoid
acquiring a financial interest that
could result, or taking an action that
would result, in a violation of the con-
flict-of-interest provisions of section
208 of title 18 U.S.C., or of this Conduct
Regulation.

(e) If any information required to be
included on a statement of employ-
ment and financial interest or supple-
mentary statement, including holdings
placed in trust, is not known to the
employee but is known to another per-
son, the employee shall request that
other person to submit information in
his or her behalf.

(f) Paragraph (c) of this section does
not require an employee to submit any
information relating to his or her con-
nection with, or interest in, a non-prof-
it educational, charitable, religious,
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professional, social, fraternal, rec-
reational, public service, civic, or po-
litical organization, or a similar orga-
nization not conducted as a business
enterprise. For the purpose of this sec-
tion, educational and other institu-
tions doing research and development
or related work involving grants of
money from or contracts with the Gov-
ernment are deemed business enterprises
and are required to be included in an
employee’s statement of employment
and financial interests.

(g) Statements of employment and fi-
nancial interests filed pursuant to
paragraph (c) of this section shall be
sent to the Director of Personnel in a
sealed envelope marked ‘‘Confidential
Employment and Financial Interests.’’
They shall be maintained in a con-
fidential file. Only those officials of the
Commission whose participation is
necessary for the carrying out of the
purpose of this Conduct Regulation
may have access to such statements
and no information may be disclosed
from them except as the Commission
or the Office of Personnel Management
may determine for good cause shown.

(h) In accordance with the require-
ments of the Ethics in Government Act
of 1978, Pub. L. 95–521, the Director of
Personnel or the Assistant Director of
Personnel shall review the financial
disclosure reports filed pursuant to
that Act.

(i) The Director of Personnel or the
Assistant Director of Personnel shall
examine the statements of employ-
ment and financial interests filed pur-
suant to paragraph (c) of this section
to determine whether conflicts of in-
terest or apparent conflicts of interest
on the part of employees exist. An em-
ployee shall be afforded the oppor-
tunity to explain any conflict or ap-
pearance of conflict. When the Director
or Assistant Director of Personnel, in
consultation with appropriate superi-
ors of the employee involved, is unable
to resolve a conflict or appearance of
conflict, he or she shall report the mat-
ter to the Commission through the
Counselor for the Commission des-
ignated under § 200.735–15(a).

(j) The Counselor for the Commission
shall examine statements filed by the
Director of Personnel and the Assist-
ant Director of Personnel.

(k) Except as otherwise provided in
paragraph (a) of this section the state-
ment of employment and financial in-
terests and supplementary statements
required of employees are in addition
to, and not in substitution for, or in
derogation of, any similar requirement
imposed by law, order or regulation.
The submission of a statement by an
employee does not permit him or her or
any other person to participate in a
matter in which his or her or the other
person’s participation is prohibited by
law, order or regulation.

(l) An employee has the right to ask
for a review through the Commission’s
grievance procedure outlined in section
771, Part II, Manual of Administrative
Regulations, of a complaint that his or
her position has been improperly in-
cluded under the provisions of this sec-
tion as one requiring the submission of
a statement of employment and finan-
cial interests.

[45 FR 36064, May 29, 1980; 45 FR 40975, June
17, 1980]

§ 200.735–12 Special Government em-
ployees.

(a) Special Government employee
means a person defined in section 18
U.S.C. 202 as a special Government em-
ployee. All of the provisions of this
Conduct Regulation are applicable to
special Government employees, except
that in specific appropriate cases the
Commission may exempt such employ-
ees from, or modify the applicability
of, any portion of any provision of the
Conduct Regulation.

(b) In no event will the Commission
waive a provision of the Conduct Regu-
lation which would permit a special
Government employee to:

(1) Use his or her Government em-
ployment for a purpose that is, or gives
the appearance of being, motivated by
the desire for private gain for himself
or another person, particularly one
with whom he or she has family, busi-
ness, or financial ties.

(2) Use inside information obtained
as a result of his or her Government
employment for private gain for him-
self or herself or another person either
by direct action on his or her part or
by counsel, recommendation, or sug-
gestion to another person, particularly
one with whom he or she has family,
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business, or financial ties. For purposes
of this paragraph, inside information
means information obtained under
Government authority which has not
become part of the body of public infor-
mation.

(3) Use his or her Government em-
ployment to coerce, or give the appear-
ance of coercing, a person to provide fi-
nancial benefit to himself or herself or
another person, particularly one with
whom he or she has family, business, or
financial ties.

(4) Receive or solicit from a person
having business with the Commission
anything of value as a gift, gratuity,
loan, entertainment, or favor for him-
self or herself or another person, par-
ticularly one with whom he or she has
family, business or financial ties.

(c) Prior to entrance on duty, each
special Government employee shall
submit to the Director of Personnel a
statement of employment and financial
interests which contains such informa-
tion as the Director of Personnel deter-
mines is relevant in the light of the du-
ties the special Government employee
is to perform and, if appropriate, the fi-
nancial disclosure report as provided
by title II of the Ethics in Government
Act of 1978, Pub. L. 95–521. It shall be
kept current throughout the period of
employment by the filing of supple-
mentary statements in accordance
with the requirements of § 200.735–11(d).
Statements shall be on the official
form made available for this purpose
through the Office of Personnel.

(d) The Commission may waive the
requirement of paragraph (c) of this
section in the case of a special Govern-
ment employee who is not a consultant
or an expert, as those terms are defined
in chapter 304 of the Federal Personnel
Manual (5 CFR 735.304), if the duties of
the position are determined to be at a
level of responsibility which does not
require the submission of such state-
ment to protect the integrity of the
Commission.

§ 200.735–13 Disciplinary and other re-
medial action.

(a) Knowing participation in a viola-
tion of this subpart by persons not
within the scope of the foregoing rules
in this subpart shall likewise be
deemed improper conduct and in con-

travention of Commission rules. Depar-
ture from any of the rules in this sub-
part by employees or special Govern-
ment employees without specific ap-
proval may be cause for appropriate re-
medial and/or disciplinary action or, in
the case of former members, employ-
ees, and special Government employ-
ees, for disqualification from appearing
and practicing before the Commission,
which may be in addition to any pen-
alty prescribed by law.

(b) When there has been a departure
from any of the rules of this subpart
without specific approval or when a
conflict of interest or an apparent con-
flict of interest on the part of an em-
ployee or special Government em-
ployee arises, the Director of Personnel
may order immediate action to end
such conflict or appearance of conflict
of interest. Remedial action may in-
clude, but is not limited to (1) changes
in assigned duties; (2) divestment by
the employee or special Government
employee of his conflicting interest; (3)
disciplinary action; or (4) disqualifica-
tion for a particular assignment. Re-
medial action, whether disciplinary or
otherwise, shall be effected in accord-
ance with any applicable laws, Execu-
tive Orders, and regulations. The Di-
rector of Personnel may refer any rec-
ommended action to the Commission.
The employee may obtain review by
the Commission of any action ordered
to be taken by the Director of Person-
nel. During the period of review, unless
otherwise directed by the Commission,
the action ordered by the Director of
Personnel is stayed.

(c) Former members or employees
who violate the post-employment re-
striction provisions of 18 U.S.C. 207(a),
(b) or (c), which parallel the provisions
of Rule 8(a), supra, will be subject to an
administrative enforcement proceeding
as set forth in Rule 102(e) of the Com-
mission’s Rules of Practice, § 201.102(e)
of this chapter, except that, when pro-
ceedings are brought to determine if
violations of post-employment restric-
tions have occurred, denial of the privi-
lege of appearing and practicing before
the Commission will be based on a find-
ing of violation of the provisions of
Rule 8(a) and 18 U.S.C. 207 (a), (b) and
(c). Procedures applicable to such ad-
ministrative proceedings are to be
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found in the Commission’s Rules of
Practice, 17 CFR 201.100 et seq.

[45 FR 36064, May 29, 1980, as amended at 60
FR 32795, June 23, 1995]

§ 200.735–14 Employees on leave of ab-
sence.

The provisions of the rules in this
subpart relative to employees of the
Commission are applicable to employ-
ees on a leave with pay or a leave with-
out pay status other than extended
military service.

§ 200.735–15 Interpretive and advisory
service.

(a) The General Counsel shall be des-
ignated Counselor for the Commission
and shall serve as the Commission’s
delegate to the Office of Personnel
Management on matters covered by the
rules in this subpart. The General
Counsel shall be responsible for coordi-
nating the Commission’s counseling
services provided under this section
and for assuring that counseling and
interpretations on questions of con-
flicts of interest and other matters
covered by the rules in this subpart are
available to all members and employ-
ees.

(b) There shall be designated as Dep-
uty Counselors the Director of Person-
nel, the Administrator of each regional
office, and the person in charge of each
branch office. The General Counsel or
his or her designee shall provide guid-
ance to the Deputy Counselors for the
purpose of achieving uniform interpre-
tations of this subpart.

(c) A member, employee, or former
member or employee may obtain ad-
vice or guidance on the application of
the rules in this subpart from any Dep-
uty Counselor or the General Counsel.
In addition, any former member or em-
ployee seeking advice or an interpreta-
tion relating to the Ethics in Govern-
ment Act shall submit his or her re-
quest to the General Counsel.

(d) The General Counsel and Deputy
Counselors will treat information they
receive pursuant to requests for advice
or guidance under this Rule on a con-
fidential basis, except that information
they receive indicating a possible past
violation of any provision of this Con-
duct Regulation or of the law will be

brought to the attention of appropriate
persons.

(e) The Director of Personnel shall
furnish a copy of this Conduct Regula-
tion (subpart M) to each member, em-
ployee and special Government em-
ployee immediately upon his or her en-
trance on duty and shall thereafter, an-
nually, and at such other times as cir-
cumstances warrant, bring to the at-
tention of each member, employee and
special Government employee this Con-
duct Regulation (subpart M) and all re-
visions thereof.

(f) The Director of Personnel shall
notify each member, employee and spe-
cial Government employee at the time
of entrance on duty, and from time to
time thereafter, of the availability of
counseling services and of how and
where these services are available.

§ 200.735–16 Delegation.
Any official responsibility assigned

to a person in a particular position
pursuant to this subpart may be dele-
gated by such person to any other per-
son.

§ 200.735–17 Administration of the con-
duct regulation.

Under the general direction of the
Executive Director, the Director of
Personnel is responsible for the day-to-
day administration of this conduct reg-
ulation except where otherwise pro-
vided.

§ 200.735–18 Requests for waivers.
Unless a different procedure is spe-

cifically prescribed in a rule of this
part, an employee may submit a re-
quest for a waiver, modification or
postponement of a requirement in-
cluded in this part to the Chairman.
Such waiver, modification or postpone-
ment may be granted if it is deter-
mined by the Chairman that such waiv-
er, modification of postponement
would not adversely affect the interest
of the Commission or the United
States. Any such waiver, modification
or postponement granted by the Chair-
man shall be made available to the
public. The Chairman may submit any
request made pursuant to this rule to
the Commission for its consideration.
Any Commission action on such re-
quest shall be made public only in the
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discretion of the Commission. Require-
ments included in this part which im-
plement any provision of Federal law,
regulation or Executive Order gen-
erally applicable to the Executive
Branch shall not be waived under this
provision.

Subpart N—Commission Informa-
tion Collection Requirements
Under the Paperwork Reduc-
tion Act: OMB Control Num-
bers and Expiration Dates

AUTHORITY: (44 U.S.C. 3507(f); secs. 6, 7, 8,
10, 19(a), 48 Stat. 78, 79, 81, 85; secs. 205, 209,
48 Stat. 906, 908; sec. 301, 54 Stat. 857; sec. 8,
68 Stat. 685; sec. 308(a)(2), 90 Stat. 57; secs.
3(b), 12, 13, 14, 15(d), 23(a), 48 Stat. 882, 892,
894, 895, 901; secs. 203(a), 1, 3, 8, 49 Stat. 704,
1375, 1377, 1379; sec. 202, 68 Stat. 686; secs. 4,
5, 6(d), 78 Stat. 569, 570–574; secs. 1, 2, 3, 82
Stat. 454, 455; secs. 28(c), 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 84 Stat.
1435, 1497; sec. 105(b), 88 Stat. 1503; secs. 8, 9,
10, 89 Stat. 117, 118, 119; sec. 308(b), 90 Stat 57;
sec. 18, 89 Stat. 155; secs. 202, 203, 204, 91 Stat.
1494, 1498–1500; sec. 20(a), 49 Stat. 833; sec. 319,
53 Stat. 1173; sec. 38, 54 Stat. 841; 15 U.S.C.
77f, 77g, 77h, 77j, 77s(a), 78c(b), 78l, 78m, 78n,
78o(d), 78w(a), 79t(a), 77sss(a), 80a–37)

§ 200.800 OMB control numbers as-
signed pursuant to the Paperwork
Reduction Act.

(a) Purpose. This subpart collects and
displays the control numbers and expi-
ration dates assigned to information
collection requirements of the Com-
mission by the Office of Management
and Budget pursuant to the Paperwork
Reduction Act of 1980, Pub. L. 96–511.
The Commission intends that this sub-
part comply with the requirements of
section 3507(f) of the Paperwork Reduc-
tion Act, which requires that agencies
display a current control number as-
signed by the Director of the Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) for
each agency information collection re-
quirement. In particular, this subpart
displays current OMB control numbers
and expiration dates of those informa-
tion collection requirements of the
Commission which are rules and regu-
lations and codified in 17 CFR either in
full text or incorporated by reference
with the approval of the Director of the
Office of the Federal Register. Where
the information collection requirement
also exists as a separate document, as,
for example, an information collection

requirement which the Commission in-
corporates by reference in 17 CFR, the
Commission, of course, will display on
the separate document as well the cur-
rent OMB control number and the expi-
ration date as required by section
3507(f). Henceforth, the Commission
will publish in the FEDERAL REGISTER
only additions, deletions and correc-
tions to particular control numbers
and expiration dates contained in this
subpart.

(b) Display.

Information
collection re-

quirement

17 CFR part
or section

where identi-
fied and de-

scribed

Current
OMB con-

trol No.
Expiration date

Regulation
S–X.

Part 210 ........ 3235–0009 Jan. 31, 1992.

Regulation
S–K.

Part 229 ........ 3235–0071 June 30, 1991.

Rule 236 .... § 230.236 ...... 3235–0095 Mar. 31, 1990.
Regulation

A.
§§ 230.251

through
230.264.

3235–0286 Jan. 31, 1992.

Regulation
B.

§§ 230.300
through
230.345.

3235–0093 Mar. 31, 1990.

Regulation
C.

§§ 230.400
through
230.494.

3235–0074 Apr. 30, 1990.

Regulation
D.

§§ 230.501
through
230.506.

3235–0076 Mar. 30, 1991.

Rule 604 .... § 230.604 ...... 3235–0232 July 31, 1990.
Rule 605 .... § 230.605 ...... 3235–0232 July 31, 1990.
Rule 606 .... § 230.606 ...... 3235–0232 July 31, 1990.
Rule 607 .... § 230.607 ...... 3235–0232 July 31, 1990.
Rule 609 .... § 230.609 ...... 3235–0232 July 31, 1990.
Regulation F §§ 230.651

through
230.656.

3235–0094 Nov. 30, 1990.

Rule 701 .... § 230.701 ...... 3235–0347 Mar. 31, 1990.
Rule 702 .... § 230.702 ...... 3235–0347 Mar. 31, 1990.
Rule 703 .... § 230.703 ...... 3235–0347 Mar. 31, 1990.
Form S–1 ... § 239.11 ........ 3235–0065 Dec. 31, 1991.
Form S–2 ... § 239.12 ........ 3235–0072 Aug. 31, 1991.
Form S–3 ... § 239.13 ........ 3235–0073 Do.
Form N–1A § 239.15a ...... 3235–0307 July 31, 1991.
Form S–6 ... § 239.16 ........ 3235–0184 Sept. 30, 1990.
Form N–7 ... § 239.16A ...... 3235–0338 Apr. 30, 1990.
Form S–11 § 239.18 ........ 3235–0067 Aug. 31, 1991.
Form N–14 § 239.23 ........ 3235–0336 May 31, 1991.
Form S–8 ... § 239.16b ...... 3235–0066 Aug. 31, 1991.
Form S–4 ... § 239.25 ........ 3235–0324 July 31, 1990.
Form S–18 § 239.28 ........ 3235–0098 Nov. 30, 1989.
Form F–1 ... § 239.31 ........ 3235–0258 May 31, 1991.
Form F–2 ... § 239.32 ........ 3235–0257 Do.
Form F–3 ... § 239.33 ........ 3235–0256 Do.
Form F–4 ... § 239.34 ........ 3235–0325 July 31, 1990.
Form F–6 ... § 239.36 ........ 3235–0292 Jan. 31, 1992.
Form SR .... § 239.61 ........ 3235–0124 Nov. 30, 1990.
Form ET ..... § 239.62 ........ 3235–0329 Oct. 31, 1989.
Form ID ...... § 239.63 ........ 3235–0328 Oct. 31, 1989.
Form SE ..... § 239.64 ........ 3235–0327 Oct. 31, 1989.
Form 1–A ... § 239.90 ........ 3235–0286 Do.
Form 2–A ... § 239.91 ........ 3235–0286 Do.
Form 3–A ... § 239.92 ........ 3235–0286 Do.
Form 4–A ... § 239.93 ........ 3235–0286 Do.
Form 5–A ... § 239.94 ........ 3235–0286 Do.
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